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1. INTRODUCTION

Buildings are at their most vulnerable when they are unoccupied or ownership is changing.

A prime example of such vulnerability is the old Defence HQ of the Natal Command or "White House". Located at
Battery Beach along the far end of Snell Parade / Oliver Tambo Drive, it was built before 1937 and vacated by the

military in 2005. The owners, Ethekwini municipality, wish to lease out the site for new development.

An otherwise substantial structure of robust design, the "White House" has had its interiors mined and stripped of
items of value since it was vacated. Holes in the roof to the North Wing threaten further decay. Gutters and
downpipes are blocked with vegetation, window glass is broken with frames swinging in the wind, and birds roost

in the interior.

Those parts of the exterior, particularly the fine entrance facade facing the ocean, which are in full view of the
public gaze, are generally intact. The extensive grounds to the rear, with established site vegetation and high
perimeter walling, offers no such defence for an unoccupied building. Security guards at the front gates offer

some defence.

The Architectural Heritage Committee { AHC ), a sub-committee of the ltafa Amalinde Heritage Trust, has initiated
this Report on the "White House" with the co-operation of Amafa and the Strategic Projects Unit of Ethekwini

Municipality. It is an unsolicited report with no proprietary claims.

Our intention is to compile a simple record of our observations of a specific place at a specific time, - with an

assortment of supplementary documentation of the history of the site. The AHC hopes this can be used as an aid
to informed decision making by the authorities and Interested & Affected parties. The Report is not intended as a
substitute for more substantial reports, such as Historical Assessments or Statements of Significance, which the

AHC hopes will be professionally undertaken for this site in the immediate future.

Itis the express purpose of the AHC that sites and structures of heritage significance be cared for and protected
for future benefit. By introducing this report into the public domain, the AHC hopes to:

- avoid instance of demolition-by-negiect, and

- support inclusive and participatory governance of our built heritage.



2. METHODOLOGY

This Report is the result of a Visual Survey conducted by + 20 people from the AHC and the "lay-"public on the
morning of Sunday, 16 January 2011.

Access to the site was jointly arranged by Amafa (as Provincial Heritage Authority) and the Ethekwini Municipality

Strategic Projects Unit ( as owners of the site ). All participants in the Survey are listed at the end of this Report.

The Survey consists of notes and photos taken on a systematic walk-through the building, room by room. There

were four or five groups of 3 to 4 people, with all groups surveying all areas for purposes of cross-referencing and
checking observations. Documentary records which are included in the Report ( see ADDENDUM - HISTORY for

images ) are intended only as a supplement to physical observation.

Emphasis in the Survey was on the interior features as access to this area is presently restricted (see
ADDENDUM - INTERIOR for photos). The exterior of the building, which for the most part is publically visible, was
photographed without notes being taken ( see ADDENDUM - EXTERIOR ). The Survey was purposely restricted

to a single 2-hour session.

The Purpose of the Survey is:

1. to record conservation worthy features on the Site,

2, to note any potential historical significance for Site,

3. to comment on the physical state of Site,

4, to highlight potential threats to Site,

5. to assist informed decision making on the future of the Site.

The Survey was limited to the "White House and adjoining boundary walls, and does not refer to the barrack
grounds, chapel or drill hall. A selection of Photos of these structures is included ( see ADDENDUM - CHAPEL +
GRAVE, and ADDENDUM - DRILL HALL + BARRACKS for photos ).



SURVEY NOTES

An Entrance Portico with 4 monumental order Doric columns marks the central entrance to two more or
less similar double-storey north and south wings. The composition of the front elevation is symmetrical in
a classic revival style typical of the early 1930's. A single storey Entrance Court behind the portico has
double steel gates which are not original. Above the entry is a decorative plaster relief (frieze), about 4m
X 2m, in good condition. The plastered ex-RSA coat-of-arms, about 1m x 1m, is located on this central
axis at the topmost roof parapet ( see ADDENDUM 2.EXTERIOR photos ).

This Symmetrical composition of the street facade is reinforced by the blank single-storey perimeter walls,
{ penetrated by two service gates ) extending on either side of the formal entrance. The walls return a
short distance around the corners of the site, and are vertically aligned with the window heights of the

"White House".

North + South Wings
Ground floor + First floor wings are both arranged around central courtyards, north and south: the north

courtyard has been roofed in between the ground and first floor with sub-standard building material. The
intact south wing courtyard reveals a tall, narrow proportion with good natural lighting. Residential
accommodation on the top floor overlooks the ground floor offices around these courtyards.

Both courtyards have double-story height face brick columns with brick capping details and the shaped
eaves timbers to the courtyards are notable ( see ADDENDUM 23. INTERIOR photos ).

Central Entrance Court to wings

Both wings have a stepped entry with noteworthy matching double doors in solid timber, studded,
unpainted, apparently original. They have decorative fanlights with lantern details ( see ADDENDUM 23,
INTERIOR photos ). The foyer on the north wing has a utility concrete staircase on the west side with a

solid reasonably intact plastered brick balustrade. The terrazzo floors are original.

Dining room, bar and kitchen
All the dining room and bar area windows, most likely teak, are in good condition. The dining room is in 2

sections, with sliding folding doors between in good condition. The floor is carpeted, not original — the
floor underneath could not be seen. The bar counter might be a replacement. Notable items are the HW
(teak) double doors - with full height glazed lights and distinctive curvilinear mullions. Skirting, dado,
timber wainscot panelling, picture rail, and cornice all appear original items, as do the receiving hatch
details ( see ADDENDUM 3. INTERIOR photos ). Water damage to ceilings and walls is noted. The
kitchen beyond the dining room is commodious and well-zoned but dilapidated. The doors are original.

Beyond and outside are the toilets for the staff: a one storey building.



Residential accommodation
Above the public rooms is the residential accommodation, with perimeter gallery looking down into

courtyards ( covered in the case of the north wing ). The rooms are in a reasonable condition: they have
high softboard sheet ceilings with HW skirtings, picture rails, tall door frames and fanlights mostly intact.
Light fittings have been removed. All doors are functional, though few still have their handles. Floors are
carpeted, but appear to be a later installation; washbasins are missing with only wall brackets remaining.
Communal toilets / ablutions are to be found on the south side; wall tiling is in good condition, but all
fittings have been stripped away. Doors to the rooms in the south wing are painted. The plasterwork is in
good condition. In the south wing, the ensuite room over the Entry Court is not original. There is an in-situ

terrazzo dado to the first floor foyer to the top of the un-noteworthy stairs.

Roofing
Rooms to both wings are monopitches behind parapet walls, falling inwards to the courtyards. The

sheeting is asbestos fibre-cement "Big Six" profile. Around the outside of the building, attractive "Spanish"
profile clay tiles are used as coping to wall parapets - an attribute of the distinctive local "Berea-style"
favoured in the 1920's - 1930's. Water damage to the interiors - to ceilings and at high levels to walls in
the north wing has already been noted. Rainwater goods to the exterior are mostly of cast iron which adds

to the quality of the facades - those in the courtyards are asbestos fibre-cement.

The central tower was truncated to its current height early in the life of the building with the outbreak of

World War 2 and concerns over enemy U-boat sightings ( see COVER for image, this Report)

Externally the facebrick, plaster and timberwork are in good condition and restorable.
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ADDENDUM historical - military
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ADDENDUM historical - military
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ADDENDUM historical - military
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ADDENDUM historical - local
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ADDENDUM historical - local

This plague commemorates
F Professor J.LB. Smith who stayed
the night of 29 December 1952 in
Room 47 of this Headquarters Building
with the Coelacanth Malanie anjouanae,
after they had been flown {rom the
island of Pamanzi in the Comores

by S.A.AF. Dakota 6832.

e

LLOCAL HISTORY FETCHING THE COELOCANTH in 1952

Commemorative Plaque, now removed, located on left wall of Canteen Entrance.
Article, Journal of SA Military History, 1992



ADDENDUM historical - Aerodrome
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ADDENDUM historical - Aerodrome
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with Natal Command JUST cut out of picture at bottom left corner!
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Chapel’s saving

grace is its history

UILT during World

War II, the charming

no-name chapel met

the spiritual needs of
soldiers of all denominations
until Natal Command closed in
the mid-2000s.

It met other needs as well.
It witnessed rushed marriages
between soldiers stationed at
the army barracks and their
fiancées before the bride-
grooms set off to war, offered a
sacred space to troubled sol-
diers, and comforted families
mourning the loss of loved
ones killed in the line of duty.

Considering this rich his-
tory, it is only fitting that it has
stood the test of time,

While most of the other
buildings on the Natal Com-
mand site were demolished to
prepare the prime Durban
beachfront property for devel-
opment, the chapel survived,
with the main building known
as the "White House”.

Mike Andrews, project exe-
cutive of eThekwini’s Stra-
tegic Projects Unit, said a road
extension running through
the property was under way.

It will run from Sylvester
Ntuli (Brickhill) Road to Sun-

If walls could talk, the chapel in
the heart of Natal Command
would have riveting tales to tell,
writes Charmel Bowman

coast Boulevard. The road will
be opened to traffic at the end of
October and as an extension of
Sylvester Ntuli Road, did not
need to be renamed, he said.

The 2lha property was
returned to the city’s portfolio
after movie mogul Anant
Singh had his R15 million pur-
chase in 2003 challenged by
businessman Haramchand
“Sunny” Gayadin.

The market value of the
property was reported to be
R100m at the time, and could be
more than R200m now.

The Pietermaritzburg High
Court declared the deal null
and void late last year

Singh’s decision to appeal
against the judgment failed as
the earlier high court ruling -
declaring the deal one-dimen-
sional and contaminated — was

upheld. In April the Supreme
Court of Appeals granted
Singh leave to appeal against
the decision that overturned
the sale of the land.

No date for the hearing was
set,

Singh had plans to build a
R700m movie studio on the site.

Singh said, “We have com-
pleted the preliminary proce-
dures for the appeal and hope it
will be heard early in the new
year.

“The legal process over
almost seven years has
impeded the development of a
film studio complex that would
have enabled Durban to benefit
from the South African film
industry’s growth of the past
few years.

“We were not consulted
about the roads or demolition

of buildings on the property,
but our agreement did take
into account certain roadworks
and presumably these are
being done in compliance with
the requirements of the agree-
ment that is in force unless a
court rules otherwise.”

A discarded shoe at the
entrance of the chapel and a
heap of shattered glass tell of
the neglect of the onceregal
chapel over the years.

The windows and door
frames have been boarded up
because of vagrancy, and the
pews and altar have long been
removed.

Rose Devereux, head of the
built environment section of
the KwaZulu-Natal heritage
council, Amafa, believes the
“empty shell” can be restored
to its former glory.

She said Amafa prohibited
the city from demolishing the
chapel and main building until
there was a developer for the
site.

“Whoever owns the land will
have to send a new proposal to
Amafa to demolish any build-
ings, but we are hoping that
they (the new developer)
retains the chapel.
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The chapel at Natal Command on Durban beachfront where some soldiers were married before going to war. It and the main Natal
Command headquarters building are all that remain — the rest have been demolished.

“Before the demolition
process began we opened it to
public participation, asking
the public to come forward
with any history of the chapel,
for instance if any of their rel-
atives were married there.

“We received a big response
from the public to keep the
White House. We hope still to
receive responses in favour of
the chapel, which has a rich
history”

Devereux 5.1 the White

House was built around 1937 or
1938, and the chapel sometime
during 1941 or 1942,

Devereux said while there
were no official records of wed-
dings held at the chapel, she
believes a number of soldiers
were married there. “It is also
likely that funerals for officers
stationed at the site were held
in the chapel,” she said.

Devereux said the demol-
ished buildings had no signifi-
cant historical value. “Our

haope is that the new developer
doesn’t demolish the chapel,
but finds a use for it.

“If a hotel is going to be
built on the land, perhaps the
chapel can be renovated to
serve as a wedding chapel. Cou-
ples married there will be part
of history”

Andrews confirmed that the
city had applied to Amafa to
demolish buildings that were
dilapidated and had little his-
torical value.

Picture: JACQUES NAUDE

“This was undertaken to
clean up the site and reduce the
city’s management and mainte-
nance costs of the property as
a whole. No proposals have
been put to our council at this
time for the future develop-
ment of the site,” he said.

® Representations to Amafa
about the White House and
chapel can be submitted to Box
2685, Pietermaritzburg, 3200 or
built.environment «
amafapmb.co.za






To: AMAFA <built.enviro@amafapmb.co.za>
Subject: old NATAL COMMANDsitevisit?_270ct2010.kw

ARCHITECTURAL HERITAGE COMMITTEE
a sub-committee of Itafa Amalinde Heritage Trust
PO Box 3066

Durban 4000

dear ros,
old NATAL COMMAND site visit?
27 0ct.2010

as previously mentioned, the ITAFAAMALINDE AHC requests the co-operation of AMAFA in undertaking a
“Rapid Heritage Survey” of the above stated building + its site.

the AHC notes recent legal judgements regarding withdrawal of lease and review of tender processes for
redevelopment of the old Natal Command site.

we note with concern that any building left vacant for an extended period of time is rendered vulnerable to
vandalism and theft, and suffers maintenance neglect. with reference to the heritage value of the old Natal
Command building, the AHC fears early action to safeguard against any such loss is needed. as a first step, a
2-hour site visit to compile an inventory and visual record of features of heritage merit is proposed.

the AHC is prepared to collaborate with other organizations or individuals for the purposes of promoting our
built heritage in general, and the old Natal Command building in particular. we would particularly wish for the
support of the property owner and feel this could best be achieved if the visit and survey are conducted under
the auspices of Amafa.

the AHC awaits your response.

sincerely, kirk, (chairperson)



To: AMAFA <built.enviro@amafapmb.co.za>
Subject: oldNATAL COMMAND HQ 1.report_03march2011.kw

ARCHITECTURAL HERITAGE COMMITTEE
a sub-committee of Itafa Amalinde Heritage Trust

PO Box 3066

Durban 4000

ATTACHED please find:

1.REPORT.pdf

The Architectural Heritage Committee ( AHC ), a sub-committee of the Itafa
Amalinde Heritage Trust, submits this Report on the old Defence
Headquarters of the Natal Command or "White House". We thank Amafa
and the Strategic Projects Unit of Ethekwini Municipality for their co-operation
with the Report. The Report is an unsolicited submission with no proprietary
claims.

Our intention with the Report is to compile a simple record of our
observations of a specific place at a specific time, - with some
supplementary documentation on the history of the site. The AHC hopes our
submission can be used as an aid to informed decision making by the
authorities and Interested & Affected parties.

The Report is not intended as a substitute for more substantial reports, such
as an Historical Assessment or a Statement of Significance. The AHC hopes
these will be professionally undertaken for this site in the immediate future.

The Report is submitted electronically in a series of 6 consecutively numbered
messages:

1. REPORT

2, EXTERIOR

3. INTERIOR

4. HISTORY

5. CHAPEL + GRAVE - photos only

6. DRILL HALL + BARRACKS - photos only.

sincerely, kirk
chairperson, itafaAHC
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Nat

al Command
Headquarters building:

Slouching® along Oliver Tambo Drive
(Snell Parade), Durban

onserving old buildings faced a
conceptual shift with the adoption of
post-apartheid legistation in 1999
when the National Heritage Resources
fict replaced the National Monuments Act, 1985.
Replacing "Monument” with "Heritage Resource”
encapsutated this shift. Regrettably, this shift is
frequently dismissed or poorly considered by many
architectural practitioners and the public. In this
article, the fate of the long vacant Natal Command
headquarters building on Durban's Battery Beach
(Fig.1) is explored through the lens of the new Act.
The site and its structure/s are identified for
their cultural, and not just their material, signif-
icance. Overtly, Natal Command embodies both a
military history and the visual imagery of western
nea-classicism implanted on sub-tropical shores.
In retaining such sites, do we conserve to guard
memory against forgetting? To what purpose? Rnd
further, how helpful is the new RAct to progressively
determine the value of such sites of contestation
and contradiction within our post-apartheid cities?
ficcepting that the mural of the Province of Natal
(Fig.2) is of some material significance, what then of
its social and political significance?

2, Province of Natatl, Mural. Stucco panel in
bas-relief in entrance portico.

fAs practitioners, sticking our toes over the line
of the strictly technical does, however, expose us to
these contested sacial and political domains. With
reference to current debate, there is certain merit
in the cautionary by Jo Noero, to "understand the
limits of architectural action™ upon the world. But,
as Jo explains, this should be counter-posed by the
professional ethics we espouse in determining the
"nature of the brief we accept and act upon” (Noero,
2012:6). Recognising both the limits and conse-
quences of our actions is the decidedly social and
political step we all must take.

RAscertaining these limits and consequences is not
helped by the "extraordinary claims” (Shepherd &

# .

1. Natal Command, 1937. Demolition of the Central Tower was undertaken in WWII to avert
U-boat surveillance.

Robins, 2008:117) that form the two short paragraphs
of the Preamble to the new Act. Paragraph one
asserts that "Our heritage ... lies at the heart of our
spiritual well-being and has the power to build our
nation. It has the potentiai to affirm our diverse
cultures, and in so doing shape our national
character”. Paragraph two asserts that "Our
heritage ... educates, it deepens our understanding
of saciety and encourages us to empathise with the
experience of others™. Below the surface of such an
instrumentalist declaration, lies a less strident and
more nuanced call, namely to negotiate, rather than
to authorise, significance. This is another significant
departure from the old Act.

Establishing the heritage resource value of the
Natal Command site with its structures would be a
way of negotiating the "nature of the brief to accept
and act upon”, This negotiation would be informed
by, if not necessarily start with, an evaluation of
the urban context.

3l Map Ollver; Tamhﬁ'Drlve paralfel to the
{ndian Ocean,/’

1. Natal Command HQ, c.1937.

2. Sunken Gardens, 1932, and relocated 'Festival of
Britain’ pylon, c.1965.

3. Dr Pixley Ka Seme (West) St.

4. Addington Children's Hospital, 1926.

5. The Point, 1880s onwards, and Vetch's Pier, 1862.
The consolidation of Durban’s beachfront as a

leisure facility followed upon the loss of the city's

premier beach in the bay in the early the 1930s. Up

till then, south and north heaches were the back-

heaches, a strip of mostly service facilities (Fig.3)

with Natal Command occupying the northern end of

this strip. The twin-gun emplacements in front of

the building (Fig.1) have now become part of the

Battery Beach car park. Only the plinth of a single

gun can be seen on today's promenade (Fig.4) with




the underground inter-
leading communication
tunnel biocked up. Little else
of historical fabric, partic-
ularly of a civic nature, -
exists along this section of
the city's beach. The site and
structure/s of the Natal |
Command building are
considered a  heritage
resource of some significance in the cityscape of
Burban.

Whilst evaluating urban context appears
generally unproblematic, this is not the case for
some of the imagery associated with the building.
The old South African coat-of-arms, axially aligned
with the (now demolished) central tower, can be
seen in Fig.4. The stucco of the emblem is rabustly
contoured and catches the sun in a lively and bold
manner (Fig.5).

As a conscientious objector to the apartheid
army, and to millions of South African citizens, it
stands as a reminder of the horror of the recent
past. Its presence tests my capacity "to empathise
with the experience of others™ and to have any wish
to "affirm our diverse cultures”, as cited in the
Preamble to the Act. But would its removal ailow
me to understand the sweep of history over the site,
to know the building for what it was, and would
removal strengthen my resolve to believe "never,
never, and never again...”?

Of lesser gravity, is the loss of the brass plaque
commemorating the overnight stay,
en-route from the Comores to the East
London Museum, of a fresh coelacanth
specimen, which was housed in room
47 of the north wing (Bergh ef al,
1992:20). The plague (Fig.6) was
removed when the military vacated
the premises in 2001, and now most |
likely adorns a knotty-pine bar in |
Durban North. Unlike the mural, the
plaque has no intrinsic value, but it
documented a layer of the history of
the building, a layer now ‘scrubbed
away’.

7. South courtyard.

“ o 5. Old South African coat-of-arms.
3 The stucco bas-relief emblem
over the entrance pediment
contains the state emblem ex
unitate vires (Strength comes
from Unity) which served South
Africa from
the form-
ation of
Union in
1910 until
it was
replaced in
2000. St iniasolt -

6. Commemorative ErSANT fb
Coelacanth
plaque, 1952, on
north wing
stairwell. \

During the tenure of the military, the building
was much altered. The north courtyard was closed-
in although the south courtyard was retained (Fig.7).
All the major entrance gates were replaced and
lean-to structures were added over & :
time. None of the alterations from this
period were of architectural merit.
Some fine Dept. of Public Works
detailing is apparent in the timber work
(Figs.8 &g). Upon the military vacating
the 21 hectare premises of barracks,
drill halls, and mess rooms, most but not
all of the brass ironmongery and service
fittings were illegally removed, whilst
most timber casement windows remain
intact.

As most of the old
material and  the
defining attributes of
the original are intact,
and as strong express-
ions of public support
had been received, the
provincial authorities
deemed the siteto be a
heritage resource of

architectural signif-
icance. The Natal
Command  building,

together with its
attached perimeter
walls, was declared
to be protected.
With the exception
of the chapel at the
far end of the
grounds, the city
authorities  who
own the land were
permitted to clear
the site of all other
structures.  Some
of these structures
can be seen in Fig.
10.

From the account
described above, it
is apparent that the
determining admin-
istrative inter-
ventions on
8| heritage resources
| continue to be
based largely on material, not cuttural, evidence as
projected in the new Act. Countervailing voices,
articulating positions other than the merits or de-

9. Mess.

merits of material significance, were never heard in
the debate over the future of the Natal Command
site. For the heritage resource practitioner, the
issue to hand was not whether to demolish or to

retain structures; the issue was one of cultural

interpretation of a site and its structure/s
saturated in political symbolism contradicting
everything that means being a South African today.
That is what the new Act clumsily espouses, and it
is something the architectural profession is
reluctant to face.

10. Aerial view from the south, 2011, before
demolition of secondary structures.

*The title was inspired by the words concluding the third
stanza of Yeats, W (1919) The Second Coming: “And what
rough beast, its hour come round at last, stouches
towards Bethlehem to be born?”
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